



  [image: cover]






   





  

    ‘Credible, intriguing and admirably developed . . . a substantial and entertaining book’


  




  Scotsman




  

    ‘Alan Judd writes exceedingly well, and Legacy is a pleasure to read . . .’


  




  Evening Standard




  

    ‘A twisty, accomplished and engaging Cold War thriller’


  




  Kirkus




  

    ‘This espionage thriller is a standout’


  




  Publishers Weekly




  

    ‘The book is a solidly constructed, beautifully observed snapshot of a lost world’


  




  Daily Mail




  

    ‘Judd keeps plot and action centre-stage . . . he has written a novel perfect for brightening up a drizzly winter Sunday’


  




  Mail on Sunday




  

    ‘A clever, sensitive tale . . . an engaging evocation of the cold war’


  




  Sunday Times




  

    ‘A meticulous exercise in cold-war paranoia with the consequences felt down the generations’


  




  Guardian




  

    ‘Mr Judd has written a first class novel’


  




  Belfast Telegraph




  

    ‘Strongly plot-driven . . . The story is suavely and efficiently handled’


  




  Literary Review




  

    ‘The action is enlivened with realistic accounts of espionage’


  




  Times Literary Supplement




  

    ‘Funny, exciting and sad, as well as revealing . . . its clarity and pertinence demand our attention in a way which not many novels do’


  




  New Statesman




  
 





  Born in 1946, Alan Judd trained as a teacher but instead became a soldier and diplomat. He is now a full-time writer, contributing regular current

  affairs articles to various newspapers, most frequently the Daily Telegraph, as well as writing regular book reviews and acting as the Spectator’s motoring correspondent. He is

  the author of several novels drawing on his military and diplomatic experience, the first of which, A Breed of Heroes, was later filmed by the BBC. The Devil’s Own Work, a

  literary ghost story inspired by Judd’s meeting with Graham Greene, won the Guardian Fiction Award.




  Also by Alan Judd




  

    Short of Glory


  




  The Noonday Devil




  Tango




  The Devil’s Own Work




  Breed of Heroes




  Uncommon Enemy




  





  [image: ]




  
 





  First published in Great Britain by HarperCollins Publishers, 2001


  This edition published by Simon & Schuster UK Ltd, 2011


  A CBS COMPANY




  Copyright © Alan Judd, 2001




  This book is copyright under the Berne Convention.


  No reproduction without permission.


  All rights reserved.




  The right of Alan Judd to be identified as author of this work has been asserted by him in accordance with sections 77 and 78 of the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act,

  1988.




  Simon & Schuster UK Ltd


  1st floor


  222 Gray’s Inn Road


  London WC1X 8HB




  www.simonandschuster.co.uk




  Simon & Schuster Australia, Sydney


  Simon & Schuster India, New Delhi




  A CIP catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.




  ISBN: 978-1-84739-773-7


  eBook ISBN: 978-1-47110-105-2




  This book is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places and incidents are either a product of the author’s imagination or are used fictitiously. Any resemblance to

  actual people living or dead, events or locales is entirely coincidental.




  Printed and bound by CPI Group (UK) Ltd, Croydon, CR0 4YY




  
 





  To Bim




  
 





  CONTENTS




  BERLIN, 1945




  

    1


  




  2




  3




  4




  5




  6




  7




  8




  9




  10




  11




  12




  
 





  BERLIN, 1945




  EXTRACT TO PF 48/78/76 FROM GEN 100/472 (RUSSIAN INTELLIGENCE SERVICE (RIS) OPERATIONS AGAINST BRITISH AND ALLIED SERVICE PERSONNEL OVERSEAS).




  BER/1 minute 51 to H/BER, p.2 cont.




  4. They left the café at about 2125hrs. Subject paid for both. He is described as about 5' 10" with light brown hair, centre parting, clean shaven, ruddy complexion as

  if used to living in the open, aged 28–30 approx. No obvious distinguishing marks. His uniform was clean and pressed and he wore the crown on his shoulders. His beret was blue.




  Comment: MORNING LIGHT is still confused by British uniforms and insignia. When shown examples and questioned again, he

  was certain that subject was wearing battledress and was a major. It is probable that he was attached

  to a headquarters but was still wearing divisional flashes (unidentified), and possible that he was Royal Engineers. MORNING LIGHT was sure he was

  not a Gunner (the only cap badge he recognises).




  5. The woman was about 5' 7" with shoulder length blonde hair which shone as if washed. She wore a cream shirt or blouse and a loose, floral-patterned skirt. They were smart

  and clean, as if new. She had black shoes with heels and nylon or silk stockings with no ladders or holes. She carried a black handbag and wore make-up and nail varnish. MORNING LIGHT could not say

  whether she wore any rings. Her German was native Berlin, her English fluent.




  Comment: MORNING LIGHT’s own English is such that almost any other German he hears speaking it sounds fluent to

  him. Asked to describe the woman’s features, he stressed that she was beautiful (‘bild schon) and that her teeth were very good (‘ebenmassige Zahne) but was vague on

  particulars.




  6. They continued to talk animatedly when they left the café and turned right before crossing the road into Bernauerstrasse. MORNING LIGHT followed them as soon as he

  had settled his bill but did not regain sight until he saw them turn into Friedrichstrasse and into the Russian zone. He did not follow them in. Although they did not touch each other or walk

  arm-in-arm, they gave the impression that they would be more than friendly (‘mehrals freunde’). Subject appeared to hesitate as they entered the Russian zone and she went a few

  paces ahead before stopping. They both laughed, and the British officer followed.




  Comment: MORNING LIGHT believes the woman was of good background (‘aus guter Familie’) because she

  naturally paused for subject to open the door for her on leaving the café, which, ‘being a British officer’, he naturally did. She was not the usual Nazi Party/Communist Party

  call-girl. Asked why he was sure this was a controlled operation rather than a girl operating on her own – or not operating as a tart at all – he insisted that no woman in Berlin can

  now dress and look like that without support and protection. There are no ‘nice rich girls’ left in Berlin, he says, and her returning to the Russian zone is, in his eyes, conclusive.

  There were also two men at a nearby table who appeared to take an interest in the couple. He could not describe them, beyond saying they were middle-aged and ordinary

  (‘unscheinbar’). An interest in the girl was natural enough but he had a feeling (‘das Gefuhl haben’) that they could have been surveillance (SV).




  7. Action: Given that we now know MORNING LIGHT’s wartime reporting to have been accurate, his judgement on such

  apparently trivial matters is worth taking seriously. It should be possible to identify the erring major by checking army headquarters lists of field officers, concentrating on those recently

  detached from fighting divisions and starting with Sappers. Although this may well turn out to be a straightforward security matter, we should not bring in the Military Police at this stage but,

  with the new GADFLY programme in mind, we should look first for any opportunity for development. Army Intelligence Corps representation has recently been beefed up and I suggest we start with them.

  If this is to become the first GADFLY case, we need to act a.s.a.p. – this day if possible. May I go ahead?




  RH




  BER/1.




  
 





  1




  LONDON, MID-1970s




  It was a warm summer when Charles Thoroughgood left the army and joined the secret service but politically the world was deep in the Cold War. He

  moved to London and rented a basement flat in Kensington with a view of sodden detritus in the well of the building and the housekeeper’s kitchen. He suspected that, from behind her dirty net

  curtains, she spent days and nights in unprofitable surveillance of his own uncurtained window. ‘Slack Alice’, Roger Donnington, his colleague and flatmate, had dubbed her. ‘Face

  that would stop a coal barge.’




  One autumn Monday, he got up after a restless night to a humid, muggy London. The flat’s tiny bathroom had no window and the electricity was off. Shaving by candlelight was a slow

  operation because he had to keep moving the candle as he traversed each cheek, and it was difficult to get any light at all beneath the chin without risk of singeing. He had long owned an electric

  razor, a present from his mother, but it had never left its box. The idea of using it had always felt like a concession to something, perhaps a luxurious and corrupting modernity. It was irrelevant

  now, anyway, because he had used the battery for his radio. Calling an electrician to restore mains power had, so far, proved too great a concession for either him or Roger.




  The milk and butter in the powerless fridge smelt rancid. Someone would have to throw them away, sometime. He made toast in the gas stove, covered it with Marmite and drank black tea. He tidied

  the bedclothes on his double mattress on the floor, put on his light suit and flicked a tie free of the clothes crammed on the hook on his bedroom door. Before leaving he knocked on Roger’s

  door. Roger had his own mattress in the sitting room, with the television at its foot. Charles had got in late the night before, so had no idea whether Roger was alone or accompanied. There was no

  answer. He knocked again, louder. ‘Okay?’ he called.




  Roger’s groan became a cough. ‘Okay.’




  It was not to be a normal day at the office, though few were at that time. He was glad of that: secret service seemed so far to provide the advantages of bureaucratic employment –

  security, purpose, companionship and, though he might not yet have admitted it to himself, the pleasing consciousness of service – without the monotony he assumed to go with office life. He

  wouldn’t need his bike that day, so left it propped up against the bedroom wall.




  The best features of the flat were the front door of the building and the curving staircase, both of a size and grandeur to give an impression of spaciousness and opulence within. It had been

  cheaply converted into flats during the 1950s and 1960s and already the additions seemed older and more worn than the house. The plaster was cracked, paintwork faded, doors warped and skirting

  boards had parted company with their walls. The door of Charles’s flat was tucked beneath the bottom turn of the staircase, so that stepping from it into the entrance hall was literally to

  enter a bigger and brighter world.




  Out on Queensgate, he turned left towards Hyde Park after a deliberate glance across the wide street to check that his car was undamaged. The rush-hour traffic was heavier than usual, perhaps in

  anticipation of further wildcat strikes on the Underground, and the delay in crossing the Cromwell Road gave him the pretext to look about as if seeking a quicker way. He did the same at Kensington

  Gore, then walked behind the Albert Memorial and into the park. He walked unhurriedly, trying to establish a regular but not purposeless pace.




  He looked back around again before he crossed the Serpentine Road and took one of the footpaths to Marble Arch and Speakers Corner. Anyone following would have to keep well back, or ahead or to

  the side, but then close quickly before Charles entered the Marble Arch subway. Presumably they would have car as well as foot surveillance, and radio. A car team might become a foot team when they

  needed to close, but to do that the cars would have to loiter in the busy Park Lane or Bayswater Road, which was never easy.




  Once in the subway and reasonably sure he was out of sight, he broke the rules by looking behind without an obvious reason. None of the figures in the park was hurrying. No puffy, sweaty man or

  woman suddenly appeared at the top of the steps. Perhaps they were waiting in Queensgate for Roger, if they were there at all. They might have a long wait.




  In Oxford Street he made for C&A, where he bought two pairs of black socks. It was cooler in the store and he loitered a while among the suits, before taking a back street to Marylebone

  Station, walking slowly with his jacket over his arm. At the station he bought a day return to Beaconsfield. The newsagent had sold out of The Times because the printers had gone on strike

  during the night, leaving only the early editions available. There would be time to find one later. He settled for the previous week’s Economist.




  He knew the forty-minute journey. Whether or not they were following by car, they would have to put at least one watcher on the train with him. If there were any ‘they’. He read

  until after Slough, when the approaching Chilterns countryside gave reason for glancing about the carriage. It was tempting to get off at one of the small stations before Beaconsfield to see who

  got off with him, but that was cinema stuff. The trick in evading surveillance, they were told, was not only to get away but to give the impression you weren’t looking for surveillance

  because you were innocent of anything that would merit it. At Seer Green, the last halt before Beaconsfield, he glimpsed a Ford Escort in the car park with Russian diplomatic number plates. He saw

  it too late to get the number but was sure enough of its origin. They were supposed to report all such sightings.




  At Beaconsfield a grizzled, grey-haired man wearing jeans and incongruously polished brown shoes got off with him. Charles walked unhurriedly up the station approach, pausing to look in a shop

  window at the top. The man crossed the road and became engrossed in an estate agent’s window. Charles continued his walk, turning left towards Old Beaconsfield, with its stockbroker tudor

  avenues, neo-Georgian mini-mansions and moguls’ houses of the twenties and thirties, with large unseen gardens and new Jaguars and Rovers in swept gravel drives. The low cloud had thinned

  enough to permit weak sunshine.




  He strode purposefully into Hughes’s, the Mercedes dealership. The forecourt was lined with polished secondhand saloons described as ‘nearly new’, with their distinctive

  vertical headlights and squared-off, no-nonsense styling. Beige seemed the most popular colour, followed by red. To one side was a trio of elegant sports models with their dished roofs and thick,

  rounded leather seats. Immediately outside the showroom was a luxurious new S class, gleaming silver and easily the biggest car there. Charles paused by it before entering the showroom and

  wandering with what he hoped was critical detachment among the new cars within.




  A salesman sat smoking at a desk with a telephone, a notepad, a Mercedes brochure and a copy of Glass’s Guide, the trade price list. He had rubbery features and crinkly dark hair.

  Charles watched through the window as Brown Shoes crossed the forecourt to the older saloons. His back was to the showroom but he could probably see it in the car windscreens. The salesman took two

  long pulls on his cigarette before stubbing it out and slipping Glass’s Guide into his desk drawer. He rose and came over to Charles, his features now composed into a rubbery smile.

  ‘Can I help, sir?’




  ‘I’m thinking of buying a car.’




  ‘Just what we like to hear, sir. Mercedes, I take it?’




  ‘Could be.’




  ‘Anything you’ll be wanting to trade in?’




  ‘No, I’ll pay cash.’




  He made himself the ideal customer, accepting a cigarette while they discussed models and prices over coffee. The salesman was happy to talk residual values but became vague when asked pointed

  questions about trade prices. Brown Shoes studied the sports cars on the forecourt. They walked round the new cars in the showroom, then outside to the one- and two-year olds nearby. Brown Shoes

  crossed the forecourt to the older saloons, still with his back to them. Charles gave the impression that cost was less important to him than style and comfort, that he might be inclined to wait

  for the new mid-range model, that he would probably look in on Jaguar, BMW and Rover dealerships, with a possible nod in the direction of Volvo. There was the family to think of, and Volvo seemed

  to make a great thing about safety, which no one else did. Unless, of course, he allowed himself to be wooed by the new S class. That would presumably be even more solid and long-lasting than a

  Volvo and he particularly liked it in silver.




  ‘You look every inch a Mercedes man, if I may say so, sir,’ the salesman said as they shook hands and Charles pocketed his card. ‘Love to see you in one.’




  Clutching his brochures, Charles carried on towards Old Beaconsfield. He had provided anyone watching with a reason for his visit and himself evidence, in the event of questioning, as to what he

  had been doing. He had ensured that the man in the dealership would remember him. He had also created time and space to spot surveillance.




  It was not far but few walked the busy road. They might have a team of cars on him but, Brown Shoes having remained on the forecourt, he was sure he was the only walker. In an Old Beaconsfield

  tea shop he lingered over more coffee and ate shortbread, reading his magazine and listening to the conversation of two mothers with children at the same school. They were discussing a third whose

  marriage had broken up, whose mother was dying and whose child was ill.




  ‘I didn’t like to ask too much,’ said one. ‘She looked so awful, as if she might burst into tears at any moment. White as a sheet.’




  The other nodded. ‘Dreadful for her. Of course, those highlights she has don’t help.’ No one else came in. Surveillance would have been briefed to identify anyone with whom he

  had even an apparently accidental encounter. They would have had to put someone, most likely a couple, in the shop with him. He ruled out the mothers, who had been there for some time. Had it not

  been for Brown Shoes, he’d have been pretty sure he’d left them – if they were on him at all – in London.




  Charles was approaching thirty, a supposedly vigorous age; the year in which a man might feel he entered full estate, experienced but forward-looking, fecund and purposeful. Instead, he spent

  more time musing upon the past than anticipating or shaping his future. This was partly why he had chosen Beaconsfield for what they called his dry-cleaning run. He had been brought up not many

  miles away and had spent a short time there on an army methods-of-instruction course in a former prisoner-of-war camp. His memories of that period were vivid. He was fitter then, going for hard

  daily runs through the beechwoods after hours in the classroom. It was a cold autumn with woodland carpets of crisp red, yellow and golden leaves and lungfuls of frosty air. He was keen, always

  running in army boots, pack and webbing, drawing a rifle from the armoury to make it harder. He wasn’t sure now why he’d done it so intensively. The approved military purpose –

  fitness – was part of it, but there was always something else – a craving for solitude amidst the very public life of the army, an escape from daily occupations, or from thought.

  Whatever he was running for or from, he felt better for putting himself through it. He didn’t run so much now, nor so hard.




  Old Beaconsfield was much as he remembered, little more than a single main street with some quaint shop fronts, oppressed by traffic but still, beneath lowered eyelids, possessed of a reserved

  charm. It had been in that very tea shop that he and Janet, his then girlfriend, had agreed to part. Theirs had been an affair in which tea shops featured prominently. It had started in one in

  Oxford before he joined the army and had begun to come apart in another in Belfast, where she had visited him during his single afternoon off in four months. He wouldn’t have been surprised

  to hear that she now owned one. It was what she often said she most wanted to do, as she became a solicitor.




  As lunchtime approached more customers came in and Charles ordered soup and bread. There was still no hurry and he was reluctant to break his semi-trance. As Roger said, secret service beat

  working for a living, so far. Roger, he imagined, would by now have made himself at home in some London drinking club, pouring drinks down a sequined cleavage and thinking to hell with

  surveillance. Unless the cleavage was the surveillance.




  The journey back to London showed no further sign of surveillance. He took the now-functioning tube to Trafalgar Square and walked along the Strand to the short road that led down to the Savoy.

  He was fifteen minutes early. ‘If you’re on time, you’re late,’ he remembered their trainer, Gerry, saying as he glanced up at the Upstairs restaurant overlooking the main

  entrance where the cars turned. Someone had said it was good after a play or film, and not too expensive. He would recce it later.




  An hour later he lowered his bone china tea-cup to its bone china saucer, using his left hand and without taking his eyes from the early edition Times he had picked up in Beaconsfield. If

  he had not found it he would have had to root through dustbins for an old one, since the instructions were that he had to be reading The Times. He lowered the cup as precisely as possible,

  appearing to read but concentrating entirely on the movement. One of his father’s eccentricities had been to practise using his left hand in anticipation of the stroke he claimed was his

  destiny, and which was statistically most likely to paralyse his right side. In fact, death, when it came so prematurely, took both sides at once, in a heart attack, while he slept.




  Cup reached saucer dead centre with a faint chink. The tearoom, quiet when he arrived, was beginning to bustle. He was now the only solitary, the others having been joined by their guests. He

  had considered ordering for two but his instructions – to await a contact who had his description and would give the password – did not indicate whether there was to be a meeting, with

  a discussion, or just a message quickly passed. He studied the faded opulence of the room, with its golds, blues and reds, the sumptuous but tired sofas and armchairs, the table legs that had been

  knocked a few times too many. In the middle was a grand piano and a harp. A man wearing a white jacket and an auburn-haired woman in a long black dress had arranged music sheets and sat at both as

  if about to play, then disappeared without a note. The tea-takers, mostly female, had paid no attention.




  He folded the paper and looked around, transferring it from one hand to the other. The self-consciousness involved in deliberately appearing to be about to do what he was about to do made every

  action feel unconvincing. No one in the room looked a likely contact, not even the stocky, energetic man who so resembled the man who had first interviewed him for the service that Charles was

  tempted to ask him to take off his jacket to see whether he was wearing the same gold armbands. He certainly wore a similar spotted bow-tie. Charles wondered whether he would ever himself attempt a

  bow-tie. Perhaps you had to be forty to get away with it. It would help to be florid.




  A waiter was working his way round, pausing now at a table of two women and two smartly dressed little girls who giggled amidst jokes and cake-crumbs on the sofa. One of the women was paying.

  Charles would soon have to decide finally whether to pay and go, or order more, or just go on sitting. The woman who was not paying got up and headed for the Ladies’. Charles took out his

  wallet and waited. He would pay, take one more swing through all the public rooms, recce the Upstairs restaurant, then go. Since he had not been briefed on what was to be conveyed, a missed meeting

  seemed no big deal.




  ‘Excuse me, but you’re not a friend of David Carter’s, are you?’




  He stood too abruptly. ‘Not exactly. I’m his cousin.’




  It was one of the women with the children, the blonde one he had seen make for the Ladies’. She stood before him, smiling with a mixture of shyness and determination. Her diction was

  perfect but her accent foreign. ‘Perhaps you were at his wedding in France?’




  ‘I was, but I don’t think we met.’ The recognition phrases over, it was now up to him to direct the meeting. ‘Won’t you sit down?’




  ‘I really haven’t time since we are just leaving. But perhaps you could quickly tell me if you’ve heard from them.’




  As they sat Charles shook his head at the approaching waiter.




  She was smiling at him again. ‘I think you must have spilt something.’




  He looked down at his trousers. ‘My tea, a while ago. Stupid of me. I hadn’t noticed. I was experimenting.’




  ‘Experimenting?’




  He smiled back. ‘Another time. Have you a message for me?’




  The hum of the tea-room was sufficient to make overhearing difficult but not enough to compel raised voices. With two fingers pressed coquettishly against her cheek, she glanced at the ceiling

  as if trying to recall a date, or a name, or a shade of colour. Her eyes were grey-green, her skin slightly olive and her eyebrows well-defined and dark, despite her apparently genuine

  blondeness.




  The waiter was still nearby. ‘Now let me see, I think it was’ – she paused until the waiter had moved on – ‘the message is for Eric.’




  Charles nodded and leaned forward. He could not be seen to take notes.




  ‘Please tell Eric that Leonid could not make the meeting on the 27th because the committee has been in continuous session about new developments in the project. Following the last

  experiment it was decided to reinforce the tubes and further delay ignition. Eric will know what this means.’ She laughed and pushed back her hair, as if they were engaged in social

  chit-chat. Her mannerisms and tone were middle-class southern English; her accent and careful diction, he suspected, were Eastern European. He remembered that he would have to describe her clothes:

  calf-length dark skirt – called a midi? – shaped around her hips, looser at the bottom; polished brown boots, square-toed; cream roll-necked jersey, tight fitting. All a little warm,

  perhaps, for a muggy day, but in autumn you never knew. He was looking again at the way her eyebrows lifted slightly at the corners when their eyes met, briefly. She looked away and went on.




  ‘And so please tell him that Leonid thinks he will be able to meet next month as usual but two days before the usual date and that the currency for the last month had not reached his

  24029609 account before he left so can Eric please ensure that it does this time.’ She paused. ‘Okay?’




  ‘24029609?’




  ‘That is correct.’




  There was another pause. The pianist had returned alone while they had been talking and, seated at the piano, began to play a single note, repeatedly, in slow time. Charles had been vestigially

  aware but had not heeded it until now, when he saw that she, too, was listening. It was slowly, softly done, the single insistent note becoming insidiously, then openly and finally triumphantly

  dominant as the tea-room chatter gradually fell silent before it. Cups were returned to saucers or held suspended. People looked at each other, then at the expressionless pianist sitting very

  upright, one hand in his lap. Tension increased as other sounds fell away. Waiters stopped, trays in hand. The pianist began slowly to vary his note. Incrementally, caressingly, he built up into a

  lingering, aching rendition of Lili Marlene that flowed and swelled to its fullest and then, at its height, declined as slowly and hauntingly as it had begun into the single note that

  started it.




  When it ceased there was applause and cheering. The pianist bowed several times, grinning, the waiters started and the room was filled again with voices and movement. Charles caught her eye once

  more. She held his gaze, as if they had shared a private joke in company, then she stood and put out her hand. ‘It has been very nice to meet you again. Please give my regards to David and

  Avril when you see them.’




  He let the women leave before he paid, then spent some time in the Gents’ so that he left a good twenty minutes after them, forgetting about his proposed recce of the Upstairs restaurant.

  From the state of the Strand, it was clear it had been raining hard. There were puddles on the broken and uneven pavements, the gutters ran with water and the rush-hour traffic was worse than

  usual. He walked briskly along to Charing Cross, where he bought shaving soap and a toothbrush, then headed across the concourse to join the crowd moving onto platform one, but slipped away before

  the barrier, down the steps and into Villiers Street. From there he made for the Embankment Underground station, where he waited on the east-bound platform for a Circle line train, hesitated as if

  opting for the District line then, with an obvious last-second check of the destination display, boarded as the doors closed. He got off one stop later, at Westminster, and walked over Westminster

  Bridge to the south side of the Thames. A breeze rippled the brown water and an unexpected burst of afternoon sun glinted on the wet road and flashed in the windows of St Thomas’

  hospital.




  Charles maintained his brisk pace. He made no notes but mentally rehearsed the salient details, confident that he had the account number because he had trained himself over the past few months

  to remember telephone numbers after repeating them aloud to himself, once. The secret was to give them mental rhythms. A bus had broken down on the far side of the bridge, in the middle of some

  roadworks on the roundabout, halting traffic in all directions. As he picked his way between the clogged vehicles, he remembered Gerry telling them that a Russian spy had been discovered in the

  round building in the middle, which housed London’s driving licence centre. The agent had used the records to help the Russians identify people they were interested in, and to help build up

  legends for Russian agents working under cover. There had been nothing of it in the papers, which heightened Charles’s pleasure in knowing it.




  He continued under the Waterloo railway bridge towards Century House, which towered above Lambeth North tube, but before reaching it he turned left into Lower Marsh where the street traders were

  packing up for the day and a lorry was spraying the narrow wet road with yet more water. It was a thriving street in a poor area, cheap and dilapidated but always busy. You could get anything

  there, they said – anything – minus the wrapping. A little over half way along was a door near a cut-price clothes shop with a polished brass plate announcing Rasen, Falcon & Co.,

  Shippers and Exporters. Charles pressed the bell and turned to face the pane of darkened glass let into the wall at the side. When the door opened he stepped through into a short hallway with

  another door and a uniformed guard sitting behind a raised ledge to the side. He showed his green pass.




  The guard nodded. ‘Last one back, sir.’ He pressed a button to open the second door.




  Charles went upstairs to a lecture room at the back of the building. All the windows had blinds down and the dozen desks were mostly occupied by his fellow students bent over papers or slowly

  tapping the keyboards of heavy grey Olympia typewriters. They were writing up the results of the exercise. The only one to look up when Charles entered was Gerry, their instructor, slumped over the

  podium in his shirtsleeves and making pencil notes which he kept crossing out. The film screen was unrolled and blank behind him.




  ‘Welcome, Carlos. Late lunch?’ Gerry altered or invented names for everyone.




  ‘Late agent.’




  ‘Agents are never late in Exercise Tabby Cat. Never accidentally, anyway.’ Gerry grinned and pushed his oversize glasses up his nose. Approaching forty, he had unruly fair hair, an

  expressive, good-natured, prematurely lined face and a generally dishevelled appearance. ‘Better crack on with your write-up. We’ve got the moving pictures soon. Big treat. You’ve

  missed tea.’




  Charles went to his desk. The worst part of exercises was the write-up. It was supposed to be concise and properly divided between factual account, intelligence product – if any –

  and opinion and recommendation. It was supposed to contain everything important and nothing unimportant, with the proviso that some unimportant things might later turn out to have been

  important.




  ‘Never weary the busy A officer reader,’ Gerry often told them. ‘Action officers are dealing with at least twenty other cases apart from yours and they don’t want to read

  about sunsets in deathless prose. At the same time, when your case goes bottom up and the proverbial hits the fan, as is not unknown’ – he would grin and push his glasses again –

  ‘you will be the first to be blamed for not having told the A officer something which at the time he did not want to know.’




  When Rebecca, the training course secretary, entered the students – all men between their early twenties and early thirties – looked up. ‘Message for Charles,’ she said,

  smiling more confidently now than in the early days when she used to blush through her suntan as they all looked at her. ‘C/Sov wants to see you a.s.a.p.’




  Controller/Soviet Bloc was in charge of all Soviet and Eastern European operations.




  ‘Found you out already,’ called Roger, from the far side of the room.




  ‘Wants more sugar in his tea,’ said Christopher Westfield, a plump former merchant banker who was said to have taken a salary cut of three-quarters when he joined.




  ‘Probably disgusted by your anti-surveillance precautions,’ said Gerry. ‘Becky, please politely convey to C/Sov that Carlos will sprint over to Head Office as soon as he has

  finished here, which will be some time after six. Meanwhile, let’s be having your write-ups soon, gentle men.’ He rubbed his hands as he separated both words. ‘I’ll be

  having some more tea.’ He and Rebecca left the room.




  Charles looked across at Roger. ‘Is that mine?’




  Yawning, Roger held up the bottom of his tie and considered it. ‘Possibly. Probably. Shirt, too, maybe. All my own teeth, though.’




  Desmond Kimmeridge, a former cavalry officer known, thanks to Gerry, as Debonair, glanced at the tie. ‘I should let him keep it if I were you.’




  Gerry returned rubbing his hands. ‘Right, that’s it. Finish your write-ups later, in your own time. Meanwhile, mes enfants, we have a film show. Windows and blinds fully

  closed, please, for the Secret Intelligence Service’s very own Keystone Cops. Probably all of you thought you were under surveillance at some point during this morning’s exercise, and

  you should’ve specified times and places in your write-ups, with descriptions of surveillants. Perceived surveillants. Imaginary surveillants. None of you was, you see, except one. Cheaper

  that way. Let it roll, Becky.’




  After a couple of false starts and the usual teasing, Rebecca coaxed the cumbersome apparatus at the back of the room into action. Charles watched himself enter the Savoy, briefly looking

  straight at the camera concealed in the window of the Upstairs restaurant. Next he was seen reading his paper and drinking tea, replacing his cup without looking and, to guffaws from the audience,

  spilling some. Then he was seen talking to the blonde foreign woman, his exercise ‘agent’, which provoked ribaldry. Finally he was shown walking briskly away from the Savoy.




  ‘The team was with you all the way back here,’ said Gerry, ‘and for a while before you reached the hotel. They picked you up in the Strand.’




  ‘Rather they’d picked up the girl,’ said Christopher.




  Charles tried to recover a little of his pride. ‘But I spotted the chap in brown shoes in Beaconsfield. And the Russian Embassy car at the station before.’




  ‘Nothing to do with us. You were on your own in Beaconsfield. Coincidence, chance, like most of life. Make sure you report the Russian car, though.’




  ‘The man was behaving oddly. He followed me most of the way.’




  ‘No accounting for taste,’ said Roger.




  Gerry shook his head. ‘Look around you and the world is full of people doing odd things. Cross my heart, cut my throat and hope to die, Charles, there was no surveillance on you until you

  reached the Strand. Then you had the full works until you got back here. The team reckoned your approach to the meeting looked reasonably natural except that your walk was a touch too deliberate,

  too slow. Let’s watch you arrive again – Becky, thanks. Here, see. Most people are walking as if they’re trying to get somewhere. You’re not. We’ll spare you the hotel

  shots again but they reckon your body language and so on was okay except that you obviously relaxed after about half an hour, as if you were no longer looking, no longer alert, no longer seriously

  expecting anything. The surprise encounter with your agent was handled well, they said. Looked very natural. Probably because it was a surprise. But afterwards you shot off from the hotel like

  Buster Keaton speeded up – there, you see, completely different walk. Much brisker, much more purposeful, eager to get back before you forget it all. Looking forward to doing your write-up, I

  daresay. And clearly no longer looking. Not surveillance aware.’ Gerry emphasised the words with his fist on the podium. ‘Serious point, this, for all of you. SV teams reckon they can

  always tell the difference between – say – a KGB officer approaching a meeting, brush contact, emptying or filling a DLB – dead letter box – or whatever – and one

  who’s just done it, because afterwards he’s relieved and his pace quickens. Remember that, gentle men. Do not let it happen. Whenever you’re doing any operation you should walk at

  your normal pace throughout. You probably don’t know what that is. Well, get to know it. Measure it. And always, always, give anyone watching an obvious reason for your being wherever you

  are. One day the lives of your agents may depend on it. And the rest of you remember that Carlos got clobbered this time, so it may be you next. Or Carlos again, who knows. But in case you think

  you’ve got clean away with it, we’ve a further surprise for you. Okay, Rebecca?’




  Rebecca went out into the corridor and returned leading a line of ten men and women, several sheepishly grinning. ‘Gentlemen, your agents,’ Gerry announced with a flourish.

  ‘Come to tell each of you how you performed from the agent’s point of view, no holds barred. Nothing they say will be used in evidence against you’ – he opened his arms and

  grinned – ‘yet.’




  Charles grabbed an extra chair and pulled it to his desk as the blonde woman approached. She carried an expensive-looking brown leather jacket. Her smile was very slightly crooked, he now

  noticed. ‘I’m so sorry to have kept you lingering over your tea for so long,’ she said. ‘I was told to give them plenty of time to try out their fancy new cameras.

  Apparently the one that gave the best results was the old-fashioned briefcase sort used by the man at the table on the far side, opposite you.’




  Charles hadn’t spotted him. She spoke quietly and, against the general hubbub, he had to concentrate on what she was saying. Twice, even before she was seated, she had pushed back her

  hair. Her accent was educated southern English. ‘You’ve lost your accent,’ he said. ‘And your little girls.’




  ‘My borrowed accent. My husband is A/1, desk officer for London operations. We were in Prague. The children were not borrowed, though. But office wives are, for this sort of

  thing.’




  ‘It was very convincing.’




  ‘Not to anyone who knows.’




  ‘Do you speak Czech?’




  ‘Shopping Czech – queuing Czech, I should say. Menu Czech.’




  There was a pause, filled by the noise and laughter of the others. The loudest laugh was Gerry’s, as he went from desk to desk. They looked at each other for a moment before speaking.

  ‘That pianist,’ Charles said.




  ‘I know. It was wonderful. So simple. And so dramatic.’




  Charles knew he should resist staring so directly. She crossed her legs and glanced down at the square toe of her polished brown boot. The leather jacket on her lap creaked softly.

  ‘I’m Anna,’ she said.




  ‘I wasn’t sure whether I was allowed to know you as anything other than Mrs A/1. I’m Charles Thoroughgood.’




  ‘I know, Gerry briefed us all. I’m supposed to tell you how you did. So embarrassing.’ She smiled again.




  ‘Was I that bad?’




  ‘No, no, you were fine. Very good, very natural. There’s nothing else to say, really. There’d be more if you were bad. No, it’s just – you know – the

  necessary pretence of these necessary games.’




  ‘Fun, though,’ Charles said, hopefully.




  ‘Oh yes, fun, of course.’




  Gerry shambled over and laid his hand heavily on her shoulder. ‘Eh bien, Anna, how did student F perform?’




  ‘Student F was brilliant, Gerry. Best yet.’




  ‘But he’s only your first.’




  ‘Second.’




  ‘Absolutely, spiffingly, world-championly brilliant? Remembered everything, no muffed lines, no use of his own name, no feet in his own mouth or on your toes?’




  ‘Not a foot wrong anywhere.’




  ‘Great. I still long for you, Anna. You know that?’




  ‘I’m so pleased, Gerry. I thought the wait must have wearied you.’




  ‘Never. Tell Hugo I’ll step into his shoes tomorrow.’




  ‘I think he knows that. You tell him every time you see him.’




  ‘I mean it. Well done, Charles. Don’t forget the write-up.’ Gerry moved on to the next desk.




  ‘So funny to think of Gerry in charge of all you babies,’ she said. ‘He and Hugo joined together. It’s hard to take anyone seriously when you’ve trained with

  them.’




  Charles thought she was about his own age. ‘You did the course as well, then?’




  ‘No, but we were already married so I used to hear all about it and go to the parties and so on. Then when we got our Sovbloc posting we did the enhanced tradecraft course – spouses,

  too, you see, and the office pays for all the child-minding – and Gerry was on it because he was going to Warsaw.’




  ‘I didn’t know he’d been in Warsaw.’




  ‘He hasn’t. His marriage broke up. You had to be married for a Sovbloc posting, you see. I’m not sure you do now.’




  ‘I think you do.’




  ‘You’re not, are you?’




  ‘No.’




  ‘Better get a move on, then, if you want to join the Sovbloc mafia.’ She stood abruptly, as if prompted, and held out her hand. ‘And I’d better get a move on to pick up

  my children. They’ve had to be kept busy for the office’s benefit, too. It’s nice to have met you. Well done.’




  ‘Thank you for making it easy. They seemed very well behaved.’ He had to repeat himself amidst the scraping of chairs as others stood to go. He wanted to say something else about the

  pianist, but hesitated too long.




  ‘They won’t be by now.’ She too hesitated as if about to add something, then said ‘ ’Bye’ and walked quickly away.




  Head Office was a 22-storey 1960s office block well situated for terrorist attack. The IRA campaign was a fact of everyday life but Middle Eastern terrorists, spawn of the

  Arab-Israeli conflict, had recently become active again. As everyone pointed out to everyone else, the building’s proximity to Lambeth North tube made for easy reconnaissance and escape, the

  petrol station at its foot would enhance secondary conflagration, while the ramp leading down to the underground garage, and the nearness of run-down council flats, might have been designed for a

  car-bomber. It was, however, a light and cheerful building in which every office faced outwards, though the lifts frequently broke down and carpenters were forever moving walls and doors as offices

  were enlarged or divided according to the flux and reflux of bureaucratic life.




  This contributed to the building’s rabbit-warren feel, which was enhanced by the fact that each floor tended to be occupied by those working in the same area or controllerate, with most

  offices small and individual rather than open-plan. The to-ing and fro-ing that this involved, and the ease with which everyone could be discreetly indiscreet, contributed to each floor developing

  its own atmosphere. As in the Foreign Office, it was traditional to enter closed doors without knocking, though it was a serious security breach to leave unlocked any empty office with papers out.

  It was known to the overseas stations as Gloom Hall.




  Students under training had little cause to visit it, so Charles welcomed the excuse. HO was the repository of secrets, the seat of mysteries, the source of power, mother and father to stations

  throughout the world, of which the curious display of aerials on the roof were the only outward reminder. Also, it seemed always to be sunlit and filled with attractive girls who knew things

  forbidden to the students.




  C/Sovbloc and his empire were on the twelfth floor. The controller was a stocky, closely-packed man with a beaky nose, iron-grey hair and gold-rimmed glasses. His speech was precise and rapid

  and his blue-grey eyes rested with disconcerting immobility on whomever addressed him. He gave an impression of contained energy, with nothing wasted or superfluous, and he had a formidable

  reputation for operational achievement, discipline and discretion. His suits were discreetly expensive and the toe-caps of his Oxford shoes had a military polish. He was rumoured to have equal

  seniority with the Chief, in terms of grade, and to have taken no leave for more years than anyone could remember. He was known as Hookey.




  The twelfth floor was quieter than others, particularly floors such as the African or South American which tended to take on aspects of the areas they dealt with. Too many of the Sovbloc offices

  were occupied by the custodians of great – it was assumed – secrets, and too many of the doors were kept closed for there to be any obvious liveliness. Hookey was said to have forbidden

  any officer to have readable papers on his desk in the presence of anyone who had no right to see them. Even the outer office occupied by his secretary was closed, which was probably unique in the

  building. His inner office was in the corner overlooking Waterloo Station.




  Controllers’ secretaries were reputedly dragons, there to protect controllers and secrets and keep distractions and trivia at bay. But C/Sov/sec, a bespectacled woman in her forties who

  wore a sensible tweed skirt, smiled and breathed no fire when Charles introduced himself. ‘Hookey is expecting you. Please sit down.’ The chair she indicated was one from which he could

  see nothing of what was on her desk. She stood in C/Sovbloc’s room with the door open so that she could see him the whole time.




  When ushered in Charles had to resist the levitational impulse of his right arm, due not only to the slow growing out of army habits but also to the sense of authority emanating from the brisk

  figure beyond the polished desk. There was nothing on the desk save three telephones, black, grey and red, a buff file and a notepad, both of which Hookey closed as Charles entered. They shook

  hands.




  ‘Tea, coffee?’ asked Hookey.




  ‘Tea, thank you.’ His reply felt unfinished without ‘sir’.




  Hookey asked his secretary, Maureen, for two teas and closed the door. ‘Who was your commanding officer in the army?’




  ‘Peter Wallace. I believe he’s now a full colonel in the MOD.’




  ‘He is. Interesting appointment.’




  Charles was never quite sure how to react to mention of his former CO, whose name provoked varied responses. ‘Not a natural one for him, I’d have thought.’ He smiled.




  ‘Not natural, perhaps, but people sometimes succeed surprisingly well at what does not come naturally to them. It’s a question of application. Because it doesn’t feel natural,

  they try harder, and so do better. Have you ever noticed that?’




  Put as a question, it still felt like a rebuke. Charles was easily made to feel guilty where the CO, as he still thought of him, was concerned. He was a man he both admired and judged hard, much

  as he suspected he might have his late father, had he known him under similar circumstances. Indeed, he remembered his father defending the CO against his no doubt intemperate attacks when home on

  leave. ‘He’s right even when he’s wrong because he’s the CO and you’re a subaltern,’ his father would say with irritating finality. ‘You’re a soldier

  and a soldier’s duty is to do his duty, and that’s that.’ Charles was the serving soldier, but his father’s war record inhibited him in such arguments.




  When Maureen brought in the teas Hookey asked her to ask A1 to look in in five minutes. The door closed, he leant forward with his elbows on the desk, his hands clasped and his cup and saucer

  planted carefully before him as if forming an evidential object. His grey-blue eyes, so far from being windows on the soul, gave the impression of having no time for such frivolity.




  ‘When you were at Oxford, before the army, you knew a Russian postgraduate student, Viktor Ivanovich Koslov, who was there for a year. The Russians permit few students to study in the west

  and those who do are closely monitored. It was not clear why Koslov, who was neither a scientist seeking militarily useful information nor, as far as we knew, an intelligence officer seeking

  recruits, was permitted. Undoubtedly, though, he would have had some sort of intelligence brief, if only to report on students and others he knew, such as yourself. You did not know him well but

  you were friendly enough when you came across him, much as you might have been with anyone else in your college to whom you were not close but who was sufficiently personable. You reported your

  acquaintance fairly fully during your positive vetting interviews before joining the service. Your longest conversation with Koslov was when one day you walked back from the schools building with

  him and into hall for lunch.’




  Charles remembered the pale, quiet man with sandy hair and freckles, fluent but careful English and amiable but guarded manner. He seemed solitary without being obviously lonely; Charles could

  not remember who, if any, his friends were. He was doubtless more mature than most undergraduates yet had about him an apparent naïveté that led people to treat him as if he were in

  fact less mature, and in need of looking after. Hookey gave the impression of knowing more about him than was in Charles’s PV reporting.




  ‘You probably don’t know that Koslov is now in London, at the Soviet Embassy, where he is one of the second secretaries. He’s been here some time and his posting is due to end

  soon. So far as the records show, he is straight MFA – Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Neither his pattern of behaviour nor his traces in our own or MI5 records suggest any reason to identify

  him as KGB. It would be very unusual, too, for anyone who had spent such a period in the west to become an intelligence officer, unless he had exceptional influence. Nevertheless, I have my own

  private doubts, the reasons for which I won’t go into now. Suffice it to say, that I am very interested in Mr Koslov.’




  Hookey sipped his tea.




  ‘What no doubt you also know is that it is difficult for us to operate in our own names in this country, since our Foreign Office cover when in London is normally not sufficient to

  withstand operational exposure, as in theory it should be when we’re attached to embassies abroad. Also, the Foreign Office is wary of the embarrassment that could arise from own-name

  operations against foreign diplomats serving in London. Under normal circumstances, therefore, we could not consider using you in any operation against Koslov here in the UK. Ironically, because we

  could do so anywhere else in the world, including Moscow – but not in the very place where it is most natural for you to be. But never mind that.’ Hookey’s lips suggested a smile,

  for the first time. ‘Circumstances are not quite normal. Firstly, we are even more interested in what the Russians are doing here than we were, especially as we believe they are

  reconstructing their operational base in this country following the expulsion of the 105 intelligence officers – actually, 104, we got one wrong – a couple of years ago. Secondly, we

  are very interested in Koslov himself. He is married and accompanied by his wife, Tanya, as they have to be for postings here. Also, as usual, they have had to leave their child behind in Moscow,

  as a hostage.’ Hookey pronounced the last word very distinctly. ‘According to surveillance and standard intercepts on the embassy, it seems a reasonably successful marriage, at least if

  lack of open hostilities and the fact of survival mean success in marriage.’ Again, there was a suggestion of a smile. ‘Except for one thing: Koslov has a relationship with a

  prostitute. This is of course highly unusual in a Soviet official serving in a hostile western country. Koslov knows the penalties but has visited the same woman at least twice. She lives in

  Belgravia and he was first seen visiting her by an off-duty member of MI5 surveillance who happened to recognise him. She thought he was acting oddly, so prolonged her shopping and followed him to

  the prostitute’s door, got close enough to see which bell he pressed and reported it. MI5 put him under surveillance for the next two weeks – they thought he might have been up to

  something professionally as opposed to privately nefarious – but with no result, and no indication that he suspected or looked for surveillance. They concluded he was either very

  professional, or very lazy, or very clean. Then, on the evening of the last day they could spare for him, he visited the lady again, whom by this time they had identified.’




  Hookey returned to his tea, obviously expecting no response yet. The window behind him offered a view of rush-hour trains creeping reluctantly in and out of Waterloo. ‘The case – as

  it is already being termed, though it isn’t one yet – has been much discussed, as you might imagine. Traces on Koslov showed up your acquaintance and we concluded that, if there is to

  be a case, it should be built on that, provided you are willing.’ Maureen put her head round the door to say that A1 was waiting. Hookey nodded. ‘Bring him in.’




  A1 was a balding, energetic, forty-ish man who wore a double-breasted suit with a red lining which flashed as he turned. His handshake was pointedly firm and his smile as welcoming as if he had

  known Charles of old and greatly enjoyed meeting him again. The neat triangle of handkerchief in his top pocket matched his spotted tie.




  ‘Hugo March,’ he said, holding on to Charles’s hand and standing very close.




  ‘I’ve just met your wife.’ The statement, though factual, felt like a deceit because of what Charles did not add.
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